To: Members of the Special Sub-Group

Councillors Farrell, Hayfield, Humphreys, Jenns, Singh and Sweet

For the information of the other Members of the Council

# **SPECIAL SUB-GROUP**

## 7 MARCH 2017

The Special Sub-Group will meet in the Committee Room, The Council House, South Street, Atherstone on Tuesday 7 March 2017 at 6.30pm.

## AGENDA

#### PART I - PUBLIC BUSINESS

- 1 **Evacuation Procedure.**
- 2 Apologies for Absence / Members away on official Council business.
- 3 **Disclosable Pecuniary and Non-Pecuniary Interests**

#### 4 **Public Participation**

Up to twenty minutes will be set aside for members of the public to ask questions or to put their views to elected Members. Participants are restricted to five minutes each. If you wish to speak at the meeting please contact David Harris on 01827 719222 or email democraticservices@northwarks.gov.uk.

## ITEM FOR DISCUSSION AND DECISION (WHITE PAPERS)

5 **Pay Policy Statement 2017/18** – Report of the Assistant Director (Finance and Human Resources)

#### Summary

There is a requirement under Section 38 of the Localism Act 2011 for Councils to have and to publish a Pay Policy Statement, agreed by Full Council, which will be subject to review at least annually. This report details the purpose for and the areas to be covered in the Pay Policy Statement.

The Contact Officer for this report is Sue Garner (719374).

JERRY HUTCHINSON Chief Executive

For general enquiries please contact David Harris, Democratic Services Manager, on 01827 719222 or via e-mail – <u>davidharris@northwarks.gov.uk</u>.

For enquiries about specific reports please contact the officer named in the report.

Agenda Item No 5

**Special Sub-Group** 

7 March 2017

Pay Policy Statement 2017/18

#### Report of the Assistant Director (Finance and Human Resources)

## 1 Summary

1.1 There is a requirement under Section 38 of the Localism Act 2011 for Councils to have and to publish a Pay Policy Statement, agreed by full Council, which will be subject to review at least annually. This report details the purpose for and the areas to be covered in the Pay Policy Statement.

Recommendation to the Council

To adopt the reviewed pay policy.

### 2. **Report**

. .

- 2.1 The purpose is to provide transparency by identifying
  - The methods by which salaries of all employees are determined;
  - The detail and level of remuneration of the Council's most senior staff.
- 2.2 The policy has been reviewed in line with the requirements and is at Appendix A.
- 2.3 Since the policy was adopted at Full Council on 4 July 2012, it has been reviewed and updated on an annual basis.

## 3 **Report Implications**

## 3.1 Human Resources Implications

3.1.1 As detailed in the report.

## 3.2 Links to Council's Priorities

3.2.1 This policy statement ensures that the Council meets its obligation under Section 38 of the Localism Act 2011 for Councils and therefore ensuring compliance with legislation.

The Contact Officer for this report is Sue Garner (719374).

### **Background Papers**

Local Government Act 1972 Section 100D, as substituted by the Local Government Act, 2000 Section 97

Background Paper No	Author	Nature of Background Paper	Date

## North Warwickshire Borough Council

## PAY POLICY STATEMENT 2017/18

#### **Introduction and Purpose**

Under section 112 of the Local Government Act 1972, the Council has the "power to appoint officers on such reasonable terms and conditions as the Authority thinks fit". This Pay Policy Statement (the 'statement') sets out the Councils approach to pay policy in accordance with the requirements of Section 38 of the Localism Act 2011. The purpose of the statement is to provide transparency with regard to the Council's approach to setting the pay of its employees by identifying;

- the methods by which salaries of all employees are determined;
- the detail and level of remuneration of its most senior staff i.e. 'chief officers', as defined by the relevant legislation;
- the Group/Board responsible for ensuring the provisions set out in this statement are applied consistently throughout the Council and recommending any amendments to the full Council.

This policy statement is subject to review on a minimum of an annual basis in accordance with the relevant legislation prevailing at that time.

#### Legislative Framework

In determining the pay and remuneration of all of its employees, the Council will comply with all relevant employment legislation. This includes the Equality Act 2010, Part Time Employment (Prevention of Less Favourable Treatment) Regulations 2000, The Agency Workers Regulations 2010 and where relevant, the Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of Earnings) Regulations. With regard to the Equal Pay requirements contained within the Equality Act, the Council ensures there is no pay discrimination within its pay structures and that all pay differentials can be objectively justified through the use of equality proofed Job Evaluation mechanisms which directly relate salaries to the requirements, demands and responsibilities of the role.

#### **Pay Structure**

Based on the application of the Job Evaluation process, the Council uses the nationally negotiated pay spine as the basis for its local grading structure. This determines the salaries of the large majority of the workforce, together with the use of other nationally defined rates where relevant. The Council remains committed to adherence with national pay bargaining in respect of the national pay spine. Agreement was reached for a two year deal for 2016/17 and 2017/18, with a 1% increase per year.

All other pay related allowances are the subject of either nationally or locally negotiated rates, having been determined from time to time in accordance with collective bargaining machinery and/or as determined by Council Policy. In determining its grading structure and setting remuneration levels for all posts, the Council takes account of the need to ensure value for money in respect of the use of public expenditure, balanced against the need to recruit and retain employees who are able to meet the requirements of providing high quality services to the community, delivered effectively and efficiently and at times at which those services are required.

New appointments will normally be made at the minimum of the relevant grade, although this can be varied where necessary to secure the best candidate. From time to time, it may be necessary to take account of the external pay market in order to attract and retain employees with particular experience, skills and capacity. Where necessary, the Council will ensure the requirement for such is objectively justified by reference to clear and transparent evidence of relevant market comparators, using appropriate data sources available from within and outside the local government sector.

#### **Senior Management Remuneration**

For the purposes of this statement, senior management means 'chief officers' as defined within S43 of the Localism Act. The posts falling within the statutory definition are set out below, with details of their basic salary as at 28 February 2017;

a) Chief Executive

The current salary of the post is £101,117. The salary falls within a range of four incremental points between £93,982, rising to a maximum of £101,117. The current post holder does not work full time, so is paid £87,452.

b) Deputy Chief Executive

The current salary of the post is £84,906. The salary falls within a range of four incremental points between £79,555, rising to a maximum of £84,906. The Deputy Chief Executive is the Council's Section 151 Officer and this was included in the evaluation of the role. The current post holder does not work full time, so is paid £73,432.

c) Assistant Chief Executive & Solicitor to the Council The current salary of the post is £70,538. The salary falls within a range of four incremental points between £65,622, rising to a maximum of £70,538. The Assistant Chief Executive & Solicitor to the Council has Monitoring Officer responsibilities included in the evaluation of the role.

- d) Assistant Chief Executive Community Services The current salary of the post is £67,729. The salary falls within a range of four incremental points between £62,811, rising to a maximum of £67,729.
- e) Assistant Directors

The salaries of posts designated as Assistant Directors fall within a range of four incremental points between £55,318, rising to a maximum of £60,673.

Chief Officers' roles are subject to job evaluation under the Hay Job Evaluation Scheme and are paid a salary, which is considered a market rate within districts in the local government sector.

Employment of Chief Officers is in accordance with collective agreements negotiated from time to time by the Joint Negotiating Committee for Chief Officers of Local Authorities for Local Government Services, those set out in the National Agreement on Pay and Conditions of Service (currently known as The Blue Book) and as supplemented by:-

- local collective agreements reached with trade unions recognised by the Council
- the rules of the Council

#### **Recruitment of Chief Officers**

When recruiting to all posts the Council will take full and proper account of its own Equal Opportunities, Recruitment, and Redeployment Policies. Where the Council is unable to recruit to a post at the designated grade, it will consider the use of temporary market forces supplements.

Where the Council remains unable to recruit Chief Officers under a contract of service, or there is a need for interim support to provide cover for a vacant substantive Chief Officer post, the Council will, where necessary, consider and utilise engaging individuals under 'contracts for service'. These will be sourced through a relevant procurement process ensuring the Council is able to demonstrate the maximum value for money benefits from competition in securing the relevant service. The Council does not currently have any Chief Officers engaged under such arrangements.

Elected Members appoint all Chief Officers. The pay level offered, on recruitment is typically the bottom point of the salary grade. In situations, however, where the individual recruited has a high level of knowledge or skills, and/or previous relevant experience, a higher salary, up to the maximum salary for that post, may be authorised, by the Chief Executive and the Elected Member recruitment panel. The recruitment panel would authorise this for an appointment of a Chief Executive.

### Additions to Salary of Chief Officers

The Council does not apply any bonuses or performance related pay to its Chief Officers.

In addition to basic salary, set out below are details of other elements of 'additional pay' which are chargeable to UK Income Tax and do not solely constitute reimbursement of expenses incurred in the fulfillment of duties;

 All Chief Officers were entitled to a lease car. Following consultation this was phased out by April 2015. There is some protection in that when the car was returned the Chief Officer received the 'spot value' less 10% as a travel allowance so long as he/she remains in the role. The 'spot value' depends on the officer's grade. The 'spot values' for each grade are detailed at Appendix 1.

Newly appointed Chief Officers will use their own vehicle, and receive an Essential User Allowance. Employees who are not Chief Officers may also receive the Essential User allowance. Essential User Allowances are also detailed at Appendix 1.

The Chief Executive is the Council's Returning Officer and the Electoral Registration Officer (who also manages the elections service) and receives an Election Allowance. The relevant bodies set this allowance. It varies each year depending on the number and type of elections in each year. There is 1 planned election on 4 May 2017 for the County Council elections, for which the Chief Executive is a Deputy Returning Officer. The allowance for this is still to be determined.

A Chief Officer may be awarded an honorarium when they 'act up' in a role. The Special Sub Group of Executive Board can authorise these. An honorarium either is a one off payment or can be a monthly allowance for a temporary period. There are no honorariums expected for 2017/18.

#### **Payments on Termination**

In the case of redundancy, a redundancy payment would be made to a Chief Officer in line with the Council's Retirement Policy & Procedure, and the Redundancy Policy & Procedure, which applies to all staff.

In the case of termination due to ill health, then there would be no termination payment but a higher pension benefit may be approved by the Warwickshire local government pension scheme. The pension benefit may include a lump sum in addition to an on-going pension payment.

On termination of employment, if it is not possible or desirable for the Chief Officer to serve their contractual or statutory notice period, then a payment may be made in lieu of the notice period not worked. Any contractual payments such as outstanding annual leave are usually included in payments on termination of employment. Similarly, any monies owing to the Council would be deducted from payments made on termination.

The Council may choose to make a payment under a Compromise Agreement to protect against compensation claims that could be expensive or bring the Council into disrepute. The Special Sub Group of the Executive Board would approve any such payment.

Where a Section 151 Officer or Monitoring Officer cease carrying out these statutory roles, then the post would be re-evaluated to exclude these duties.

#### **Increases to Pay**

Any cost of living increases agreed through NJC are applied to Chief Officers pay. This is typically on 1<sup>st</sup> April each year.

Chief Officers appointed on a salary scale will receive an incremental increase to their pay as follows:

Chief Officers appointed between 1<sup>st</sup> October and 31<sup>st</sup> March will receive an increment after six months service

Chief Officers appointed between 1<sup>st</sup> April and 30<sup>th</sup> September will receive an increment on the following 1<sup>st</sup> April

Thereafter, all Chief Officers will receive increments annually on 1<sup>st</sup> April.

Chief Officers' pay will be measured against the market normally on, a three to five yearly basis, to ensure we maintain consistency with our peer local authorities. Where there are significant changes in market rates then a pay benchmarking assessment will be carried out for Chief Officers. The last pay benchmarking on Chief Officers was completed in November 2010 when the salaries for the Deputy Chief Executive, the Assistant Chief Executive and Solicitor to the Council and the Assistant Chief Executive Community Services were set. However, no salary increases were made at this time to any of the other Chief Officer posts. A further review has not yet been considered necessary. The Council's Executive Board approves increases to Chief Officers pay.

## Publication

Upon approval by the full Council, this statement will be published on the Councils Website. In addition, for posts where the full time equivalent salary is at least £50,000, the Councils Annual Statement of Accounts will include a note setting out the total amount of

- salary, fees or allowances paid to or receivable by the person in the current and previous year;
- any sums payable by way of expenses allowance that are chargeable to UK income tax;
- any compensation for loss of employment and any other payments connected with termination;
- any benefits received that do not fall within the above

This policy will be available on our web site <u>www.northwarks.gov.uk</u>

#### Lowest Paid Employees

Our lowest paid employees' salary is determined by the grade for their post, which is underpinned by a job evaluation scheme, rather than being paid a market rate for their job. Market supplements are given to some posts where there are recruitment and retention difficulties. Currently none of our lowest paid employees receives a market supplement on their salary to bring it up to market rates. Some of our lower paid posts were given a supplement to bring them up to the Government's new National Living Wage.

Whilst we may employ apprentices on a lower wage, ie the minimum wage, during their apprenticeship they do have a structured training plan leading to a qualification.

With regard to other aspects of remuneration policy, there is equity across all our employees. The same policies set out above apply to our lowest paid employees.

#### <u>Relationship Between Remuneration of our Chief Officers and Other</u> <u>Employees</u>

Currently the average (mean) of our Chief Officers pay is 2.91 times that of the rest of our employees. Our top earning Chief Officer earns 4.47 times the mean of the rest of our employees.

Currently the average (mean) of our Chief Officers pay is 4.53 times that of our lowest paid employees. Our top earning Chief Officer earns 6.97 times the mean of our lowest paid employees.

Currently the median Chief Officers pay is 3.3 times that of the rest of our employees. Our top earning Chief Officer earns 5.07 times the median salary of the rest of our employees.

These figures are as at 28 March 2017 and do not include travel allowances, essential car user allowances.

Our policy for 2017/18 is to maintain Chief Officers pay within the following maximums:

Ratio of mean pay (Chief Officers: rest of employees) = 3.08

Ratio of median pay (Chief Officers: rest of employees) = 3.5

And not to exceed the following multipliers for our top earning Chief Officer:

5.5 X mean pay of other employees

5.5 X median pay of other employees

#### Accountability and Decision Making

In accordance with the Constitution of the Council, the Special Sub Group and the Executive Board are responsible for decision making in relation to the recruitment, pay, terms and conditions and severance arrangements in relation to employees of the Council.

#### **RELATED DOCUMENTS**

Retirement Policy & Procedure Redundancy Policy & Procedure Recruitment Policy Disciplinary Procedure NJC Job Evaluation Scheme Outline Hay Job Evaluation Scheme

Date of this review

February 2017

## Annual Spot Value Less 10%

Chief Executive	£6,048
Deputy Chief Executive	£5,220
Assistant Chief Executive & Solicitor to the Council	£3,456
Assistant Chief Executive Community	£3,456
Assistant Directors	£3,456

## Annual Essential Car User Allowance

451-999cc `	£840
1000-1199cc	£963
1200cc & above	£1,239